

**USER GUIDE FOR SUPPLIERS** 

## **OpusCapita Business Network**

### Contents

Introduction	4
Finalizing registration and changing your password	5
Finalize your registration	5
Change your forgotten password	7
Reset your password	8
Company information	9
Profile	9
Add and edit company details	9
Turn contact persons into users	15
Approve or reject access requests	17
Users	19
Add users	19
Edit user data	21
Reset passwords	22
Orders	23
View order details	24
Confirm or reject purchase orders	25
Report efforts on service orders	28
Flip orders into invoices	30
Invoices	33
Add sales invoices	34
Create credit notes	38
Copy invoices	40
Archive	41
Catalog	43

### **1. Introduction**

With OpusCapita Business Network, you can

- View and confirm your purchase orders, send order confirmations and turn the orders into invoices i.e. flip them
- Manually add invoices that are not based on purchase orders
- Select the invoice sending method from those the customer is requesting and then send the invoices to them as e-invoices
- View service orders and report your efforts related to them
- View archived invoices

The statuses of all the orders and invoices are updated constantly, offering you a real-time view to your transactions. You are notified of new documents or actions needed from you by email. The notification email includes a link directing you to the specific item.

When you log in, you land on the *Home* page, where you see the strength of your company, the existing connections as well as notifications of new items. The strength of the company can be enhanced by completing the company profile (see <u>3.1 Profile</u>).

The application is available in English, German, Swedish and Finnish. You can change the language and update your user data in your profile settings, which you can access by clicking your username in the upper right corner.

OpusCa	pita	a Business N Home Ord		Cat	alog <del>-</del> Company				९ 🏼 🌢	51 Scott 👻
	0	rder O	verviev	V			Scott Tiger scott.tiger@example Hardware AG	e.com		
	Order	rnumber				Туре		Profile		
	Custo	omer				✓ Status		Log-out		
	Recei	ved On		-				Support: +49 2: customerservic Manual: Downl	e.de@opuscapita.com	
								Language		English 🔻
		Customer Name	Order Number		Туре	Status	Received On	Total Net Price		
	•	Musterkunden AG	OAA180000005	v3	Order confirmation	Invoiced	17/10/2018 08:20:17	314.25 EUR	PDF 🖸 Edit	
	۲	Musterkunden AG	OAC180000010	v3	Order confirmation	Invoiced	16/10/2018 12:45:18	127.00 EUR	PDF 🕑 Edit	

# 2. Finalizing registration and changing your password

When your data has been added into the system, you need to finalize the registration (see <u>2.1</u> <u>Finalize your registration</u>).

If you have forgotten your password, you can change it. The administrator can also reset your password whenever necessary (see <u>3.2.3 Reset passwords</u>), in which case you will receive a temporary password in your email.

### 2.1 Finalize your registration

After the administrator has added your information into the system, you will receive an email with instructions for finalizing your registration. Note that the temporary password included in the email is valid for two days.

Finalize your registration as follows:

1. In the email you received, click the *Confirmation* link.



### The *Email Address Confirmed* page opens.



- 2. Click Login. The Login page opens. Your email address is shown in the Email field.
- 3. In the *Password* field, enter the password from the email.
- 4. Click Sign-in. The Change your password page opens.
- 5. In the *New password* field, enter your desired new password. The password must meet the following requirements:
  - At least 8 characters
  - At least one special character
  - At least one lowercase and one capital letter
  - At least one number
- 6. In the *Retype Password* field, enter the same password again.
- 7. Click Submit. Your password has now been changed, and you can use it for logging in.

### 2.2 Change your forgotten password

Change your forgotten password as follows:

1. On the *Login* page, click *Forgot Password*.

En 🗸	
Email	Your email
Password	Enter Password
	Sign-in

The *Request Password* page opens.

- 2. In the *Email* field, enter your email address.
- 3. Click *Submit*. The *Password sent* page opens, informing you that a temporary password has been sent to your email. Note that the password is valid for 30 minutes.
- 4. Click the login link.



The *Login* page opens.

- 5. In the *Password* field, enter the temporary password.
- 6. Click Sign-in. The Change your password page opens.
- 7. In the *New password* field, enter your desired new password. The password must meet the following requirements:
  - At least 8 characters
  - At least one special character

- At least one lowercase and one capital letter
- At least one number
- 8. In the *Retype Password* field, enter the same password again.
- 9. Click Submit. Your password has now been changed, and you can use it for logging in.

### 2.3 Reset your password

If the administrator has reset your password, you receive a temporary password (valid for 30 minutes) in your email:



Reset your password as follows:

- 1. Go to the login page.
- 2. In the *Email* field, enter your email address.
- 3. In the *Password* field, enter the temporary password from your email.
- 4. Click Sign-in. The Change your password page opens.
- 5. In the *New password* field, enter your desired new password. The password must meet the following requirements:
  - At least 8 characters
  - At least one special character
  - At least one lowercase and one capital letter
  - At least one number
- 6. In the *Retype Password* field, enter the same password again.
- 7. Click *Submit*. Your password has now been changed.

### 3. Company information

You can edit the basic information of your company in the application. However, if you are not an administrator, you can only manage addresses and contact persons. As an administrator, you can also manage users.

### 3.1 Profile

On the *Company* / *Profile* page, you can add company details, turn contact persons into users and approve or reject access requests.

### 3.1.1 Add and edit company details

The organization chart of the implemented group structure is shown on the *Organization Chart* tab. It cannot be modified.

If you need to change the VAT Identification Number, contact OpusCapita's customer support.

Add company information as follows:

- 1. Click Company, and select Profile. The Company Information page opens.
- 2. On the *Company* tab, edit the basic data as necessary.

Company Org	anization Chart	Address	Contact	Bank account	Visibility Preferences	Access Approval
Company Info	rmation					
Parent Company				~		
Company Name *	Hardwar	e AG				
Homepage	http://ha	rd.ware.ag				
Founded/ Established On	DD/M	Μ/ΥΥΥΥ		×		
Legal form	KG					
Company Registratio Number	n MI65135	5				



- 3. Add a company address as follows:
  - a. Select the *Address* tab.
  - b. Click *Add*.

Company	Organization Char	t Address	Contact	Bank account Visibility Prefe	erences Access Appro	oval		
Please a	dd your compan	y addresse	es here.					
Туре	Street	Zip code	City	Country	Telephone	Fax		
Default	Fabriciusa 8, B1	220100	Minsk	Belarus	+491234512345	-	🖸 Edit	💼 Delete
Invoice	123 New Street	10015	New York	United States of America	1-800 INVOICE	-	🖸 Edit	💼 Delete
Add								

Fields are opened for editing below the existing addresses.

c. In the fields marked with an asterisk (\*), select or enter the information.

Туре	Street	Zip code	City	Country	Telephone	Fax	
Default	Fabriciusa 8, B1	220100	Minsk	Belarus	+491234512345	-	🖸 Edit 🛙 🛱 Delete
Invoice	123 New Street	10015	New York	United States of America	1-800 INVOICE	Ξ.	🖸 Edit 🗴 🛱 Delete
Type *	S	elect type		~			
Name *							
Street *							
Street 2							
Street 3							
Zip code *							
City *							

- d. Enter other necessary data.
- e. Save the changes by clicking *save*.
- 4. Add a contact person as follows:
  - a. Select the *Contact* tab.
  - b. Click Add. Fields are opened for editing below the existing contact persons.

c. In the fields marked with an asterisk (\*), select or enter the information.

Contact Type	Department	First Name	Last Name	Phone	Mobile	Email			
Sales	-	Max	Mustermann	-	0136/456789	dirk.fischbach@jcatalog.com	L Create User	🖸 Edit	🛱 Delete
Technical	a	Dirk	Fischbach	0231/3967-224	0173-5101302	dirk.fischbach@jcatalog.com	L Create User	🖸 Edit	Delete
Contact Type *		Sales		~					
Department *		Sales		~					
Salutation									
First Name *		Tony							
Last Name *		Tiger							
Email *		tony.tiger@co	mpany.com						
Phone									
Mobile									
Fax									
				Cancel save					

Please add your company contact persons here.

- d. Enter other necessary data.
- e. Save the changes by clicking *save*.
- 5. Add a bank account as follows:
  - a. Select the Bank account tab.
  - b. Click Add. Fields are opened for editing below the existing bank accounts.

IBAN	Bank Name	BIC / SWIFT	Bank Country	Bankgiro	Plusgiro	
DE8937040044053201300	00 Deutsche Bank	DEDSLTJXXXX	Germany	-	-	🖸 Edit 🗋 Delete
Bank Name *						
IBAN **						
BIC / SWIFT						
Bank Code						

- c. In the fields marked with asterisks (\* or \*\*), select or enter the information.
  - If your company is in Sweden, you can use the **Bankgiro** or **Plusgiro** field instead of the IBAN.
  - If your company is in Switzerland, you can use the *ISR number* field with the IBAN. The ISR is shown on the invoice after the bank account number.
- d. Save the changes by clicking *save*.

- 6. Define privacy settings as follows:
  - a. Select the Visibility Preference tab.
  - b. From the *Contacts* drop-down menu, select who will see the contact details:
    - If you want all companies to see the contact details, select *Public*.
    - If you do not want any company to see the contact details, select *Private*.
    - If you want your customers to see the contact details, select **Business** *partner*.
  - c. From the Bank Accounts drop-down menu, select who will see the bank accounts:
    - If you want all users to see the bank accounts, select *Public*.
    - If you do not want anyone to see the bank accounts, select *Private*.
    - If you want your customers to see the bank accounts, select *Business partner*.

Company	Organization Chart	Address	Contact	Bank account	Visibility Preferences	Access Approval	
Please set	preferences for	your publ	lic profile.				View public profile
Contacts	Public			~			
Bank Accounts	Private			~			
				save			

You can check what information is publicly available by clicking View public profile.

7. Click save.

If necessary, you can edit and delete addresses, contact persons and bank accounts:

- *Edit*: Click *Edit* on the desired row. The fields open for editing. Make changes as necessary, and click *save*.
- **Delete**: Click **Delete** on the desired row. The application asks if you want to delete the address. Click **OK**.

### 3.1.2 Turn contact persons into users

If necessary, you can turn a contact person into a user. The contact can then no longer be edited in company's contact details. You can delete the contact person from the contact person list – deleting the contact person in company details will not delete the user from the user list.

Turn a contact person into a user as follows:

- 1. Click Company, and select Profile. The Company Information page opens.
- 2. Select the *Contact* tab.
- 3. For the desired user, click *Create User*.

Please add your company contact persons here.

Contact Type	Department	First Name	Last Name	Phone	Mobile	Email			
Sales	e	Max	Mustermann	674	0136/456789	dirk.fischbach@jcatalog.com	Create User	🖸 Edit	Delete
Technical	8	Dirk	Fischbach	0231/3967-224	0173-5101302	dirk.fischbach@jcatalog.com	L Create User	🖸 Edit	🛱 Delete
Sales	Sales	Nick	Noname	-		nick_noname@outlook.com	L Create User	C Edit	Delete
Add									

The application asks if you want to create the user.

4. Click **OK**. The contact person is then added to the user list (see <u>3.2 Users</u>). In contacts, you can still view the details or delete the user from contact persons.

Contact Type	Department	First Name	Last Name	Phone	Mobile	Email			
Sales	-	Max	Mustermann	-	0136/456789	dirk.fischbach@jcatalog.com	L Create User	🖸 Edit	🛍 Delete
Technical	-	Dirk	Fischbach	0231/3967-224	0173-5101302	dirk.fischbach@jcatalog.com	L Create User	🖸 Edit	🛱 Delete
Sales	Sales	Nick	Noname			nick_noname@outlook.com		<b>⊘</b> View	💼 Delete

The contact person turned into a user needs to finalize their registration (see <u>2.1 Finalize</u> <u>your registration</u>).

### 3.1.3 Approve or reject access requests

The first user registering into the application becomes the administrator. All the other registrations must be approved by the administrator, unless added by the administrator – the administrator receives an email whenever there are new requests.

Approve or reject an access request as follows:

- 1. Click Company, and select Profile. The Company Information page opens.
- 2. Select the Access Approval tab.
- 3. Approve requests as follows:
  - a. In the Status column, click Approve on the respective row.

Please approve or reject user access request.

First Name	Last Name	Email	Request Date	Justification	Status
John	Doe	john.doe@ncc.com	5/25/2018		✓Approve X Reject

The application asks if you want to approve the request.

b. Click OK. The status of the request is now Approved.

Please approve or reject user access request.

First Name	Last Name	Email	Request Date	Justification	Status
John	Doe	john.doe@ncc.com	5/25/2018		Approved

- 4. Reject requests as follows:
  - a. In the *Status* column, click *Reject* on the respective row. The application asks if you want to reject the request.
  - b. Click OK. The status of the request is now Rejected.

### 3.2 Users

On the *Users* page, you can add users and edit user data. Furthermore, as an administrator you can reset passwords for other users.

You can use one or more search criteria to easily find the desired user. After you have defined the criteria, click *Search*. Only the users matching your search criteria are shown until you click *Reset*.

Jser list							
Jser ID / Email	ben			Roles			-
lame				Status			
							Reset Sear
	- 200.00					-	Reset Sear
ID	Email	First name	Last name	Federation	Roles	Status	Reset Sear

If you need to delete a user from the system, contact OpusCapita's customer support.

### 3.2.1 Add users

Add a user as follows:

- 1. Click *Company*, and select *Users*. The *User list* page opens.
- 2. Click Create User.



er list				
r ID / il		Roles		•
ne		Status		•
				Reset Sea

The Create user page opens. The fields marked with an asterisk are required information.

- 3. From the *Role* drop-down menu, select the desired role. The role defines actions allowed for the user.
- 4. In the *Email* field, enter user's email address.

Create user			
Supplier	Hardware AG		
Role *	supplier 🗸	Degree	
Email *	ben.adams@company.com	Telephone	
Salutation	~	Telefax	

- 5. In the *First name* field, enter user's first name.
- 6. In the *Last name* field, enter user's last name.
- 7. From the *Language* drop-down menu, select the desired language. You can filter the options by starting to type the name of the language in the field.

Note that the application is only available in English, German, Swedish and Finnish.

- 8. Enter other necessary data.
- 9. Click *Create*. The user has now been added into the system. If you want, you can add more roles for the user.
- 10. If you want to add more roles for the user, do as follows:
  - a. Select *Roles*.
  - b. From the Select role drop-down menu, select the role you want to add.

Profile Roles	Password	Image		
Edit roles of us	ser test@tes	t.com		
Role name				
supplier			1 Delete	1 Tenants
user				1 Tenants

c. Click *Add*. The role has now been added for the user.

After adding the user into the system, the user receives an email with instructions for finalizing the registration (see <u>2.1 Finalize your registration</u>).

You can also turn your contact persons into users, see 3.1.2 Turn contact persons into users.

### 3.2.2 Edit user data

Edit user data for a user as follows:

- 1. Click Company, and select Users. The User list page opens.
- 2. For the desired user, click *Edit*.

ld	Email	First name	Last name	Federation	Roles	Status		
ndrea.smith@co	andrea.smith@co	Andrea	Smith		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edit	Reset password
andy.jones@com	andy.jones@com	Andy	Jones		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edit	Reset password
ecky.evans@cor	becky.evans@cor	Becky	Evans		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edit	Reset password
en.adams@com	ben.adams@com	Ben	Adams		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edit	Reset password

The *Edit profile* page opens.

- 3. Edit the data as necessary.
- 4. Click Save.

If you need to delete a user from the system, contact OpusCapita's customer support.

### 3.2.3 Reset passwords

As an administrator, you can reset passwords for users whenever necessary. After you select to reset a password, the user will receive a temporary password which is valid for 30 minutes.

Reset a password as follows:

1. Click *Company*, and select *Users*. The *User list* page opens.

By default, users are sorted by the user ID. By clicking the desired column header, you can sort by that column.

2. For the desired user, click *Reset password*.

ld	Email	First name	Last name	Federation	Roles	Status		
andrea.smith@co	andrea.smith@co	Andrea	Smith		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edi	Reset password
andy.jones@com	andy.jones@com	Andy	Jones		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edit	Reset password
becky.evans@cor	becky.evans@cor	Becky	Evans		supplier user	email verification	🖊 Edi	Reset password
oen.adams@com	ben.adams@com	Ben	Adams		supplier user	email verification	🖍 Edi	Reset password

The instructions for setting a new password are sent to the user – the user needs to reset their password during the next 30 minutes (see <u>2. Finalize registration and change your password</u>).

### 4. Orders

On the **Orders** / **Overview** page, you can view all the orders you have received. You can also confirm or reject purchase orders, report your efforts on service orders and flip orders into invoices.

The status of a received messages is one of the following:

- **Ordered**: The order has just arrived, and it has not been handled yet.
- Changed: The buyer has changed the purchase order.
- Change requested: You have proposed changes.
- **Confirmed**: You have confirmed the purchase order.
- Partly confirmed: You have partially confirmed the purchase order.
- *Rejected*: You have rejected the purchase order.
- Partly rejected: You have partially rejected the purchase order.
- Cancelled: The customer has cancelled the order.

- **Reported**: All service order rows have been handled, and reporting has been done.
- Partly reported: Some of the service order rows have been handled.
- Invoiced: You have sent the invoice to the buyer.
- *Partly invoiced*: You have sent a partial invoice to the buyer.
- **Delivered**: The buyer has signed the goods as received.
- **Partly delivered**: The buyer has partially signed the goods as received.

By default, the orders are sorted from the newest to the oldest. You can sort the orders by type, customer name, order number, total net price or status by clicking the respective column name.

Furthermore, you can use one or more search criteria to easily find the desired order. After you have defined the criteria, click **Search**. Only the orders matching your search criteria are shown until you click **Reset**.

### Order Overview

Orde	r number	210			Туре				~
Custo	omer			, and the second s	Status				~
Recei	ved On		_	~					
								Reset	Search
	Customer Name	Order Number		Туре	Status	Received On	Total Net Price		
•	Musterkunden AG	P2P180000210	v2	Order confirmation	Confirmed	09/10/2018 10:17:1	8 639.55 EUR	PDF	🖸 Edit
	Previous F	Page		Page 1 of 1		10 Rows 🔽	Next Pa	ge	

You can see the history of an order by clicking the ▶ button on the respective row.

٦	Customer Name	Order Number		Туре	Status	Received On	Total Net Price	
	Musterkunden AG	O18000069	v4	Order confirmatior	Confirmed	19/06/2018 14:08:57	28.99 EUR	PDF 🖸 Edi
	Musterkunden AG	O18000069	v4	Order confirmatior	Confirmed	19/06/2018 14:08:57	28.99 EUR	Q Viev
	Musterkunden AG	O18000069	v3	Order confirmatior	Partly confirmed	19/06/2018 14:08:57	28.99 EUR	Q View
	Musterkunden AG	O18000069	v2	Order confirmatior	Confirmed	19/06/2018 14:08:57	28.99 EUR	Q Vie
	Musterkunden AG	O18000069	v1	Order	Ordered	19/06/2018 14:08:57	28.99 EUR	Q Vie
•	Musterkunden AG	0190000315	v2	Order confirmation	Partly confirmed	18/06/2018 16:02:55	3,433.50 EUR	PDF 🖸 Ed

If you want to view a purchase order as a PDF, click **PDF**.

### 4.1 View order details

When you receive an order from your customer, you receive an email notification. The notification is also shown on the *Home* page. You can open the order by clicking the link in the email or on the *Home* page. Alternatively, select *Orders / Overview*, find the desired order from the list and click *Edit*.

	Customer Name	Order Number		Type	Status	Received On	Total Net Price		
۲	Musterkunden AG	P2P180000211	v4	Order confirmation	Invoiced	09/10/2018 10:53:22	6.10 EUR	PDF	🖸 Edit
۲	Musterkunden AG	P2P180000210	v2	Order confirmation	Confirmed	09/10/2018 10:17:18	639.55 EUR	PDF	🕑 Edit
•	Musterkunden AG	P2P180000208	v2	Order confirmation	Confirmed	08/10/2018 18:39:24	639.55 EUR	PDF	🖸 Edit

After opening the order, you can export it to JSON or CSV by clicking *Export* and selecting the desired option. Furthermore, you can view the order as a PDF by clicking *PDF Preview*.

You can close the order and go back to the list of purchase orders by clicking *Go to overview*.

Order	r confirmation		Go to overview
Supplier	hard001 - Hardware AG	Customer	OC001 - Musterkunden AG
Address	Central Office Fabriciusa 8, B1 220100 Minsk Belarus	Address	Musterkunden AG Lindemannstraße 79 44135 Dortmund Germany

### 4.2 Confirm or reject purchase orders

Before you can flip a purchase order into an invoice, you need to confirm it. Before confirming the purchase order, you can edit the line items as necessary (change the delivery date, for example), or add a comment.

If necessary, you can also reject line items or the whole purchase order.

Confirm or reject a purchase order as follows:

- 1. Click Orders, and select Overview. The Order Overview page opens.
- 2. For the order you want to confirm or reject, click *Edit*. The *Order* page opens.
- 3. If you want to comment the purchase order, enter your comment in the *Internal Comment* field.

- 4. Below *Line Items*, edit the order details as necessary:
  - In the *Delivery Date* fields, select the new dates from the calendars.
  - In the *Quantity* fields, edit the number of items. Note that you can only change the quantities to be smaller than originally.
  - In the **Net price per unit** fields, edit the prices of items. Note that you can only change the prices to be less than originally.
- 5. Below *Line Items*, confirm of reject line items:
  - If you want to confirm all the line items, click Confirm.

	Item ID	Item Description	Delivery Date	Quantity*		Unit*		Price unit	Net price per unit*	VAT%*	Total
1 Invoiced	910-002143	Logitech M325	25/10/2018	3.00	/3	piece	~	1	22.89	19.0	68.67
	Logitech M3	25 Optical USB Mouse (silver) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>									
	Delivery Address:	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra	?e 79, 44137 Dortmund,	DE							
2 Invoiced	602116	Sharp Cash Machine	25/10/2018	2.00	/2	piece	~	1	127.00	19.0	254.00
	Sharp Cash Mac	nine									
	Delivery Address:	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra	?e 79, 44137 Dortmund, I	DE							
								Total N	et Price		322.67 EU
								Taxes	19.0%		61.31 EU

The statuses of the line items change from **Ordered** to **Confirmed**.

• If you want to reject all the line items, click *Reject*. The statuses of the line items change from *Ordered* to *Rejected*.

• If you want to confirm only some of the line items, remove the checkmark by clicking on those rows you do not want to confirm.

Pos Status	Item ID	Item Description	Delivery Date	Quantity*	1	Unit*		Price unit	Net price per unit*	VAT%*	Total
Z 1 Invoiced	910-002143	Logitech M325	25/10/2018	3.00	/3	piece	~	1	22.89	19.0	68.67
	Logitech M3	25 Optical USB Mouse (silver) <td>&gt;</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	>								
_	Delivery Address:	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra	a?e 79, 44137 Dortmund, I	DE							
2 Invoiced	602116	Sharp Cash Machine	25/10/2018	2.00	/2	piece	~	1	127.00	19.0	254.00
	Sharp Cash Mac	hine									
	Delivery Address:	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstr	a?e 79, 44137 Dortmund, I	DE							
								Total N	et Price		322.67 EUR
								Taxes	19.0%		61.31 EUR
								Total			383.98 EU

Then click **Confirm**. The statuses of the selected line items change from **Ordered** to **Confirmed**.

- If you want to reject only some of the line items, remove the checkmark by clicking on those rows you do not want to reject. Then click *Reject*. The statuses of the selected line items change from *Ordered* to *Rejected*.
- 6. Click **Save & send**. The order confirmation is sent to the customer. You can now flip the order into an invoice (see <u>4.3 Flip purchase orders into invoices</u>).

### 4.3 Report efforts on service orders

When your customer buys services from you, you will receive a service order. When you have completed the service, you need to report it and the materials used to the buyer. After the buyer has approved your report, the type of the order is changed to *Goods Receipt*, after which you can flip it into an invoice.

Report your efforts as follows:

- 1. Click Orders, and select Overview. The Order Overview page opens.
- 2. For the desired service order, click *Edit*.

	Customer Name	Order Number		Type	Status	Received On	Total Net Price		
•	Musterkunden AG	OX180001852	v2	Service Order	Partly reported	09/10/2018 13:52:24	639.55 EUR	PDF	🖸 Edit
Þ	Musterkunden AG	OX180001842	v1	Service Order	Ordered	09/10/2018 13:03:24	78.00 EUR	PDF	🕑 Edit
F	Musterkunden AG	1003181800000	v1	Service Order	Ordered	03/10/2018 09:40:02	89.98 EUR	PDF	🖸 Edit

The Service Order page opens.

3. Click Report efforts. The Service Entry Sheet opens.



#### Purchase Order

upplie		Hardware AG	Created on	10/09/2018 1:03:10 pm	Total 7	78.00 EUR		
ustom	ner	Musterkunden AG	Ordered by	Tore Skog Pettersen (Tore.Pettersen@opuscapita.com)				
Ser	vice Ent	ry Sheet						
DN-11 upplie		Hardware AG	Created on	10/18/2018 8:35:46 am	Total for SES	EUR		
upplie	er	Hardware AG	Created on	10/16/2016 6:55:46 am	TOTALIOF SES	EUK		
	ner	Musterkunden AG	Created by		Total value (reported)	EUR		
ustom		Musterkunden AG Quantity, Price	Created by			EUR Total Price		
ustom Pos.			Created by Short Description USB Mouse	Quantity 5.00 piece	(reported)	Total	+	
Pos.	Description, C Product 910-001246		Short Description		(reported)	Total Price	+	ß

- 4. Report your services in one of the following ways:
  - If you want to report all the rows from the original service order, click the <sup>1</sup> button in the **Service Entry Sheet** section.

OX180001842	ordered					
Supplier	Hardware AG	Created on	10/09/2018 1:03:10 pm	Total	78.00 EUR	
Customer	Musterkunden AG	Ordered by	Tore Skog Pettersen (Tore.Pettersen@opuscapita.co	om)		
	Entry Sheet					
Service E DN-1189 open Supplier	7	Created on	10/18/2018 8:35:46 am	Total for SES	EUR	

All the rows from the service order are copied. Edit the data as necessary.

• If you only want to report some of the rows, click the <sup>1</sup> button for the desired row. The row is copied from the service order. Edit the data as necessary.

 If you want to report a service that is not included in the original service order, click the + button for the desired product.

Pos.	Description, Quantity, Price			Final Reporting	Total Price
1	Product 910-001246	Short Description USB Mouse	Quantity 5.00 piece	Price/PU 6.10/1 EUR	0.00 EUR 🕂 💕
Pos.	Description, Quantity, Price			Final Reporting	Total Price
2	Product WMS335B	Short Description Wireless Optical Mouse	Quantity 5.00 piece	Price/PU 9.50/1 EUR	0.00 EUR 🕂 🗳

The fields open for editing. Define the details as follows:

In the *Product* field, click and select the desired product from the list. You can also filter the products by starting to type the product ID in the field.

After you select the product, the *Short Description* and *Price/PU* fields are added with information from the product catalog.

- In the Quantity field, enter the number of items.
- In the *Period of Service* field, select when the service was done.
- In the *Performed By* field, enter your name.
- If necessary, enter a note in the *Notes* field.
- 5. Click *Release*. The status of the service order is now *Reported*, and the buyer receives your report. After the buyer has approved your report, the type of the order is changed to *Goods Receipt*, after which you can flip it into an invoice (see 4.4 Flip purchase orders into invoices).

### 4.4 Flip orders into invoices

Before you can flip a purchase order into an invoice, you need to confirm it (see <u>4.2 Confirm or</u> reject purchase orders). After confirming the purchase order, you can flip the order into an invoice right away or at a later stage. You can then either save the invoice as a draft or save the invoice and send it automatically via the messaging platform.

After you have reported your service efforts to a buyer (see <u>4.3 Report efforts on service orders</u>) and the buyer has approved your report, the service order is changed to a goods receipt, after which you can flip it into an invoice.

Flip an order into an invoice as follows:

- 1. Click Orders, and select Overview. The Order Overview page opens.
- 2. For the desired confirmed purchase order or a goods receipt, click *Edit*. The *Order Confirmation* or *Goods receipt* page opens.
- 3. Click *Flip*.



2 Confirm	ned 910-002143	Logitech M325		23/01/21	100.00	/ 100	F♥ 1	22.89	0.0	2,289.00	0
	Delivery Add	r <b>ess:</b> Musterkunde	n AG , Lindemar	instraße 79	, 44137 Dortmun	d , DE					
							Total	Net Price		4,578.00	EUR
							Taxes	0.0%		0.00	EUR
								7.0%		160.23 I	EUR
							Tota	al	4,7	38.23	EUR
✓ Confirm	🗙 Reject				Export 🔺	Show attach	ments PD	)F Preview	🕄 Flip	Save &	send

The **Sales Invoice** page opens, with the details from the purchase order or the goods receipt. The due date is automatically calculated based on the term of payment.

4. In the *Invoice Number* field, enter a unique, continuous invoice number.

Sales Inv	voice		Go to Overv	iew
Supplier	Hardware AG	Customer*	OC001 - Musterkunden AG	v
Supplier Address	Central Office, Fabriciusa 8, B1, 220100 Minsk, BY	Invoice Address	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstraße 79, 44137	
Supplier Contact	Max Mustermann		Dortmund, DE, OC001	
VAT ID	DE999999995			
Invoice Number*	212	Status	new	
Invoice Date*	28/06/2018	Order Number	O180000069	
Due Date*	31/07/2018	Reference Number		

- 5. If necessary, add a bank payment reference in the **Bank Payment Reference** field, a reference number in the **Reference Number** field or a comment in the **Comment** field.
- 6. Below *Line Item List*, define custom clearance number or country of origin, if necessary.
- 7. If necessary, enter surcharges as follows:
  - a. Below *Line Item List*, click *Add a Surcharge*. The surcharge-related fields open for editing.
  - b. From the drop-down menu in the first field, select the type for the surcharge: *Freight*, *Packaging* or *Postage*.

Pos Item ID	Item Description	Quantity* Unit*	Price Unit*	Net Price per Unit*	VAT% *	Total		
Surcharges		Freight Packaging Postage					0.00	×
Add an Invoice Item	Add a Surcharge	Total N	et Price				0.00 USD	
		Taxes	errice				0.00 USD	
		Tota	Ē.				0.00 US	D

- c. In the second field, enter the price per unit.
- d. In the third field, enter the VAT percentage.

Pos Item ID	Item Description	Quantity* U	Jnit* Price Unit*	Net Price per Unit*	VAT% *	Total		
urcharges		Freight	~	12	15		12.00	×
Add an Invoice Item Ad	dd a Surcharge		Total Net Price				12.00 USD	
			Taxes	15.0%			1.80 USD	
			Total			1	3.80 USI	C

- 8. Click Save. The Save or Save and Send window opens.
- 9. If you want to send the invoice to the customer, click Save & Send. Otherwise, click Save.

### 5. Invoices

On the *Invoice* / *Overview* page, you can view your invoices and credit notes. You can also copy invoices and create credit notes. On the *Invoice* / *Key-In* page, you can add new sales invoices.

The status of an invoice is one of the following:

- draft: The invoice has not been sent. You can edit the invoice or copy it.
- *sending*: The invoice is being sent.
- sent: The invoice has been sent to the customer. You can view the invoices by clicking the
   button. You can also copy the invoice or create a credit note based on it.

By default, the invoices are sorted from the newest to the oldest. You can sort the invoices by type, issue number (= invoice number), customer, invoice date, reference number, total net price or status by clicking the respective column name.

Furthermore, you can use one or more search criteria to easily find the desired invoice. After you have defined the criteria, click **Search**. Only the invoices matching your search criteria are shown until you click **Reset**.

ssue Number				Cı	stomer					~
Order number				St	atus		-		~	
nvoice date			-	Cr	eated On					
									Res	et Searc
									Resi	et Jearc
Туре	Issue Number	Customer	Invoice date	Reference Number	Total price (net)	Created On	Status		Resi	Jean
	Issue Number inv180X180002	Customer Musterkunden AG	Invoice date 26/10/2018	Reference Number OX180002141		Created On 26/10/2018 09:04:1		View	Сору	Credit Note
nvoice					1,451.99 EUR		Sent	View		
Type Invoice Invoice	inv180X180002	Musterkunden AG	26/10/2018	OX180002141	1,451.99 EUR 1,451.99 EUR	26/10/2018 09:04:1	Sent Sent		Сору	Credit Not

If you want to view a specific invoice, click View.

### 5.1 Add sales invoices

If necessary, you can manually add sales invoices to the buyers who you have connected with in the application.

Add a sales invoice as follows:

- 1. Open the sales invoice form in one of the following ways:
  - Click *Invoice* and select *Overview*. The *Invoice Overview* page opens. Click *Create Sales Invoice*. The *Sales Invoice* page opens.
  - Click Invoice and select Key-In. The Sales Invoice page opens.
- 2. From the *Customer* drop-down menu, select the desired customer.

Sales Inv	Voice		Create Sales Invoice Go to Overview
Supplier	Hardware AG	Customer*	Musterkunden AG(OC001)
Supplier Address	Central Office, Fabriciusa 8, B1, 220100 Minsk, BY	Invoice Address	
Supplier Contact	Max Mustermann, 0231/3967-0	Customer VAT ID	FI12345678
Supplier VAT ID	DE999999995		
Invoice Number*		Status	New
Invoice Date*		Order Number	
Due Date*		Bank Payment Reference	
Currency*	USD - US Dollar	Reference Number	
Bank Account *	IBAN: DE89370400440532013000 ISR: 12-345 ¥	Comment	
		Attachments	0 Document(s)

- 3. In the *Invoice Number* field, enter a unique, continuous invoice number.
- 4. Click the *Invoice Date* field, and select the invoice date.
- 5. Click the *Due Date* field, and select the due date.
- 6. From the *Currency* drop-down menu, select the desired currency.
- 7. From the Bank Account drop-down menu, select the desired bank account.
- 8. Enter other data as necessary.
  - In the *Bank Payment Reference* field, you can enter the supplier's reference.
  - In the *Reference Number* field, you can enter the buyer's reference.



- 9. Add PDF attachments as follows:
  - a. Click the 0 document(s) link.

Invoice Number*	12334678545	Status	New
Invoice Date*	16/10/2018	Order Number	
Due Date*	31/10/2018	Bank Payment Reference	
Currency *	USD - US Dollar 🗸	Reference Number	
Bank Account *	IBAN: DE89370400440532013000 ISR: 12-345€ ✔	Comment	
		Attachments	0 Document(s)

The Invoice Attachments window opens.

Invoice Attachments	×
Allowed file types for upload: pdf	Upload
	Close

Note that you need to save the invoice before adding attachments.

- b. Click Upload.
- c. Browse to the desired directory and add the attachment by clicking **Open**. The file is added for the invoice.

Invoice Attachments	×
File1.pdf	×
Allowed file types for upload: pdf	Upload
	Close

If necessary, you can remove the attachment by clicking the 🗱 button. You can also add another attachment by clicking *Upload* again.

d. After adding all attachments, click *Close*.



### 10.

e. Below Line Item List, click Add an Invoice Item.

os Item ID	Item Description	Quantity*	Unit*	Price Unit*	Net Price per Unit*	VAT% *	Total	
Add an Invoice Item	Add a Surcharge							
			Total Ne	et Price				0.00 USD
			Taxes					0.00 USD
			Total					0.00 USD

The first line item is shown with fields open for editing.

- f. In the *Item ID* field, enter an ID for the item.
- g. In the *Item Description* field, enter a description for the item.
- h. In the *Quantity* field, enter the number of items.
- i. From the *Unit* drop-down menu, select the correct unit.
- j. In the Net Price Per Unit field, enter the price for one unit.
- k. In the *VAT*% field, enter the VAT percentage.
- 10. Enter a line item as follows:
  - I. Below Line Item List, click Add an Invoice Item.

Line Item	n List								
Pos Item ID	Item Des	cription	Quantity*	Unit*	Price Unit*	Net Price per Unit*	VAT% *	Total	
Add an Invoice Item	Add a Surcharge			Total N	et Price			0.00	USD
				Taxes				0.00	
				Tota	I			0.00	USD
								PDF Preview	v Save

The first line item is shown with fields open for editing.

- m. In the *Item ID* field, enter an ID for the item.
- n. In the *Item Description* field, enter a description for the item.
- o. In the *Quantity* field, enter the number of items.
- p. From the Unit drop-down menu, select the correct unit.
- q. In the Net Price Per Unit field, enter the price for one unit.
- r. In the *VAT*% field, enter the VAT percentage.



- 11. Add all the line items as described.
- 12. If necessary, enter surcharges as follows:
  - e. Below *Line Item List*, click *Add a Surcharge*. The surcharge-related fields open for editing.
  - f. From the drop-down menu in the first field, select the type for the surcharge: *Freight*, *Packaging* or *Postage*.

Line Item	List		
Pos Item ID	Item Description	Quantity* Unit* Price Net Price VAT% Unit* per Unit* *	Total
Surcharges	Add - Surphyses	Freight Packaging Postage	0.00 🗙
Add an Invoice Item	Add a Surcharge	Total Net Price	0.00 USD
		Taxes	0.00 USD
		Total	0.00 USD
			PDF Preview Save



- g. In the second field, enter the price per unit.
- h. In the third field, enter the VAT percentage.

Pos Item ID	Item Description	Quantity*	Unit*	Price Unit*	Net Price per Unit*	VAT% *	Total		
Surcharges		Freight		~	12	15		12.00	×
Add an Invoice Item	Add a Surcharge		T-+-18	let Price				12.00 US	2
			Taxes	let Price	15.0%			12.00 US	
			Tota	I			1	.3.80 US	5D
							PDI	Preview	Save

- 13. Add all the surcharges as described.
- 14. Click Save. The Save or Save and Send window opens.

Save or Save and Send	х
Please decide whether you want to save and send the invoice di just save it as a draft.	rectly to your customer or
	Save Save & Send

15. If you want to send the invoice to the customer, click Save & Send. Otherwise, click Save.

### 5.2 Create credit notes

You can create credit notes based on invoices sent to the customers. The credit note includes all invoice information, and it is allocated based on the invoice number.

Create a credit note as follows:

- 1. Click *Invoice*, and select *Overview*. The *Invoice Overview* page opens.
- 2. For the desired sent invoice, click Credit Note.



Type	Issue Number	Customer	Invoice date	Reference N	Total price (n	Created On	Status			
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	26/10/2018	OX180002141	1,451.99 EUR	26/10/2018 09:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002137	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 17:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002133	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 12:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv180X180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002129	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 11:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note

### The Credit Note page opens.

Supplier	Hardware AG	Customer*	Musterkunden AG(OC001)
upplier Address	Central Office, Fabriciusa 8, B1, 220100 Minsk, BY	Invoice Address	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra?e 79, 44137
Supplier Contact	Max Mustermann, 0231/3967-0		Dortmund, DE
Supplier VAT ID	DE999999995	Delivery Address	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra?e 79, 44137 Dortmund, DE
non •. • construction construction		Customer VAT ID	F112345678
Credit Note Number*		Status	New
Invoice Number	inv180X180002141	Order Number	OX180002141
Credit Note Date*	26/10/2018	Bank Payment Reference	
		Reference	

- 3. In the *Credit Note Number* field, enter a unique, continuous credit note number.
- 4. Click Save. The Save or Save and Send window opens.
- 5. If you want to send the credit note to the customer, click *Save & Send*. Otherwise, click *Save*.

### 5.3 Copy invoices

Copy an invoice as follows:

- 1. Click Invoice, and select Overview. The Invoice Overview page opens.
- 2. For the desired invoice, click *Copy*.

Type	Issue Number	Customer	Invoice date	Reference N	Total price (n	Created On	Status			
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	26/10/2018	OX180002141	1,451.99 EUR	26/10/2018 09:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002137	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 17:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002133	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 12:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002129	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 11:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note
Invoice	inv18OX180	Musterkund	25/10/2018	OX180002125	1,451.99 EUR	25/10/2018 11:	Sent	View	Сору	Credit Note

The Sales Invoice page opens.

- 3. In the *Invoice Number* field, enter a unique, continuous invoice number.
- 4. Click the *Invoice Date* field, and select the invoice date.

Sales Inv	/oice		Create Sales Invoice Go to Overview
Supplier	Hardware AG	Customer*	Musterkunden AG(OC001)
Supplier Address Supplier Contact	Central Office, Fabriciusa 8, B1, 220100 Minsk, BY Max Mustermann, 0231/3967-0	Invoice Address	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra?e 79, 44137 Dortmund, DE
Supplier VAT ID	DE999999995	Delivery Address Customer VAT ID	Musterkunden AG, Lindemannstra?e 79, 44137 Dortmund, DE FI12345678
Invoice Number*	1233455645655	Status	New
Invoice Date*	30/10/2018	Order Number	OX180002137
Due Date*	24/11/2018	Bank Payment Reference	
Terms of Payment	30 days net, 14 days -5.00%, 7 days -2.50%	Reference Number	

- 5. Change other data as necessary.
- 6. Click Save. The Save or Save and Send window opens.
- 7. If you want to send the invoice to the customer, click Save & Send. Otherwise, click Save.

### 6. Archive

When email archiving is in use, the invoice files attached in emails are stored into the archive. The invoices are archived in their original format extracted from the email. The metadata, such as the email sender and date and time stamps, are also stored.

When the archive is taken into use, a key user is added into the system. The key user can then add additional users. New users receive an email with instructions for finalizing their registration.

The invoices are available for viewing in the archive according to regional laws. The archived invoices can be accessed as read only.

Search for an archived invoice and view it as follows:

- 1. On the **Search for invoices** page, select the desired company from the **Company/Buyer** drop-down menu.
- 2. From the *Year* drop-down menu, select the archiving year. The *From*, *To* and *Search in text* fields are shown.

Search fo	or invoice	S				
Company/Buyer	Musterkunden AG	× •	Year	2018 ×	•	
From			То			
Search in text						
					Reset	Search

- 3. If you want to refine your search, do as follows:
  - If you want to search for invoices from a specific period, click in the *From* and *To* fields and select the date range from the calendars.
  - If you want to search for a specific text, enter it in the Search in text field.
- 4. Click Search. The invoices matching your search criteria are shown.
  - Transaction Id: OpusCapita Solutions transaction ID for the invoice
  - Start date: The date when the invoice was received
  - Sender Email: The email address of the issuer of the email
  - Status: The status of the transaction in OpusCapita

If you want to search with other criteria, click **Reset** to clear the fields.



5. Click the link for the desired invoice. The invoice opens showing the details.

### Invoice Details

Transaction ID Transaction Start Transaction End Customer-ID Last status 5e5d24af-8b93-4926-a0fe-204aeb5e5d 2018-10-22T08:38:48.555Z 2018-10-22T08:38:48.555Z Musterkunden AG Completed

### Sender/Receiver

From	
То	
Subject	

info@outlook.com Musterkunden@doc.com Fwd: Musterkunden AG

### Attachments

5e5d24af-8b93-4926-a0fe-204aeb5e5d.pdf

Download

If you want to open the invoice as an PDF, click *Download*.

## 7. Catalog

To enable ordering via eProcurement, the customers need the catalogs.

Upload catalogs for a customer as follows:

- 1. Click *Catalog*, and select *Upload*. The *Catalog Upload* page opens.
- 2. Select the desired customer from the drop-down menu. This will take you to Self Service Manager.

For more information, click your username in the upper right corner and select *Help*.

OpusCapita	Self Service Manager		scott.tiger@example.com 👻
oposcapica	Supplier - Catalogs -		Scott Tiger
		Help	scott.tiger@example.com
There are seve	Catalog Information Formats ral preconditions which you need to consider to send your catalog to your customers. Simply sending your data to them is not enou	Logout Current assignmen	nt Hardware AG
catalog data m Publishing you	uirements regarding file format, classification, units of measure standard and other configurations. Self Service Manager manage ust be accurately prepared and you must follow the appropriate publishing steps. r catalog means uploading it to Self Service Manager (SSM) where transformations of file format, units of measurement and classi-	Language	English •
	sing passes successfully, it becomes available to the customer. t step you should select the customer for whom catalog export is made. You should also specify the the catalog and type of data replacen	nent.	
Supplier*	Hardware AG (hard001) Supplier for whom catalog conversion is made.		
1042 AD 93			
Customer*	Q Customer for whom catalog export is made.		